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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of SRF Limited 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Opinion

statements of SRF Limited (hereinafter referred to as 
the ‘Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding 
Company and its subsidiaries together referred to 
as “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
balance sheet as at 31 March 2021, and the 

other comprehensive income), consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 

explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, and based 
on the consideration of reports of other auditors on 

as were audited by the other auditors, the aforesaid 

required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally 

of the Group as at 31 March 2021, of its consolidated 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

mitigate foreign currency risk and interest rate risk 
primarily through foreign currency forward exchange 

Further, the Group has been using hedge relationship 
designation as per criteria set out in relevant Indian 

Accounting thereof and related presentation 
and disclosures of these transactions require 

counterparties of the year end positions as well as 

valuation specialists to assist us in carrying out 

statements in respect of both non-derivative and 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the 

are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Group in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India and the relevant provisions of the Act, and 

the audit evidence obtained by us along with the 
consideration of audit reports of the other auditors 

provide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated 

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
Accounting for derivatives
An important element of Group’s fund-raising 
strategy involves various types of borrowings 
including foreign currency denominated borrowings 

rates, and also foreign currency denominated loans 

exchange risk (refer to note 40 of the consolidated 

applied the following audit procedures in this area, 

audit evidence:

and other related functions which directly impact 
the relevant account balances and transactions, 

Other Information 
The Holding Company’s management and Board of 

The other information comprises the information 
included in the holding Company’s annual report, but 

does not cover the other information and we do not 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 

have performed and based on the work done/ audit 
report of other auditors, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we 

Management’s and Board of Directors’ 
Responsibilities for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
The Holding Company’s Management and Board 
of Directors are responsible for the preparation 

statements in term of the requirements of the Act 
that give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 

Group in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian 

Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act for safeguarding the assets of each 

and other irregularities; the selection and application 

and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and the design, implementation and maintenance 

completeness of the accounting records, relevant to 
the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 

and are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, which have been used for the 

statements by the Management and Directors of the 

the respective Management and Board of Directors of 
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the companies included in the Group are responsible 
for assessing the ability of each company to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the respective 
Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

The respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group is responsible for overseeing 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

relevant to the audit in order to design 

statements, which have been audited by other 
auditors, such other auditors remain responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us 
along with the consideration of audit reports of the 
other auditors referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 

We communicate with those charged with governance 
of the Holding Company and such other entities 

which we are the independent auditors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters 

these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

Act, we are also responsible for expressing 

policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 

and Board of Directors use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparation of 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

may cause the Group to cease to continue as 

including the disclosures, and whether the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation; and

entities or business activities within the Group to 

supervision and performance of the audit of 

Other Matters 

`

March 2021, total revenues of `

`

on that date, as considered in the consolidated 

have been audited by other auditors whose 
reports have been furnished to us by 
the Management and our opinion on the 

relates to the amounts and disclosures included 
in respect of these subsidiaries and our report 
in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of 
the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid 
subsidiaries is based solely on the audit reports 

  Certain of these subsidiaries are located outside 

accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in their respective countries and 
which have been audited by other auditors 
under generally accepted auditing standards 

The Company’s management has converted 

located outside India from accounting principles 
generally accepted in their respective countries 
to accounting principles generally accepted 

located outside India is based on the report of 

prepared by the management of the Company 

and Regulatory Requirements below, is not 
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respect to our reliance on the work done and the 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

based on our audit and on the consideration 
of reports of the other auditors on separate 

Matters’ paragraph, we report, to the extent 
applicable, that:

 a)  we have sought and obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the 

 b)  in our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relating to preparation of the 

have been kept so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books and the reports 

 c)  the consolidated balance sheet, the 

(including other comprehensive income), 
the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement 

are in agreement with the relevant books 
of account maintained for the purpose 
of preparation of the consolidated 

 d)  in our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated 

 e)  on the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on 31 March 2021 taken on 

record by the Board of Directors of the 
Holding Company and the reports of the 
statutory auditors of its subsidiary company 
incorporated in India, none of the directors 
of the Group companies incorporated in 

from being appointed as a director in terms 
of Section 164(2) of the Act; and

 f)  with respect to the adequacy of the internal 

statements of the Holding Company and 
its subsidiary company incorporated in 

such controls, refer to our separate Report 

in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 
2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations 
given to us and based on the consideration of 
the reports of the other auditors on separate 

disclose the impact of pending litigations 
as at 31 March 2021 on the consolidated 

the applicable law or Ind AS, for material 
foreseeable losses, on long-term 

statements in respect of such items as it 

Company or its subsidiary company 
incorporated in India during the year 

statements regarding holdings as well as 

December 2016 have not been made in the 

  In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us and based on 
the reports of the statutory auditors of such 
subsidiary company incorporated in India which 
was not audited by us, the remuneration paid 
during the current year by the Holding Company 
and its subsidiary company to its directors is in 

by the Holding Company and its subsidiary 
company is not in excess of the limit laid down 

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Kaushal Kishore

Date: 21 May 2021
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Meaning of Internal Financial controls 
with Reference to Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 

statements for external purposes in accordance with 

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 

of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 

with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial 
controls with Reference to consolidated 
Financial Statements
Because of the inherent limitations of internal 

of collusion or improper management override 
of controls, material misstatements due to 

may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 

Other Matters 

to one subsidiary company, which is a company 
incorporated in India, is based on the corresponding 
report of the auditor of such company incorporated 

For B S R & Co. LLP 
Chartered Accountants

Kaushal Kishore

Date: 21 May 2021

with reference to the aforesaid consolidated 

section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies  
Act, 2013 

on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ 

Opinion 

the year ended 31 March 2021, we have audited 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) 
and such company incorporated in India under the 
Companies Act, 2013 which is its subsidiary company, 

In our opinion, the Holding Company and such 
company incorporated in India which is its subsidiary 
company, have, in all material respects, adequate 

criteria established by such companies considering 
the essential components of such internal controls 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal 
Financial Controls 
The respective Company’s management and the 
Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and 

established by the respective Company considering 
the essential components of internal control stated 

the design, implementation and maintenance of 

Annexure A to the Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidated 

of its business, including adherence to the respective 
company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 

information, as required under the Companies Act, 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 
143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an 

with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

and maintained and if such controls operated 

audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 

assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating 

 including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors 
of the relevant subsidiary company in terms of their 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note
No.

As at
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

ASSETS
Non-current assets

4
 Right-of-use assets 43
 Capital work-in-progress 
 Goodwill 5

6
 Financial assets 
 (i) Investments 7
 (ii) Loans 8

10
 Deferred tax assets

22
11

Total non-current assets 8,990.49 7,970.56 
Current assets
 Inventories 12
 Financial assets 
 (i) Investments 7
 (ii) Trade receivables 13
 (iii) Cash and cash equivalents 14
 (iv) Bank balances other than above 15
 (v) Loans 8

10
 Current tax assets (net) 22  -

11
Total current assets 3,938.92 2,894.36 

42  -   11.84 
TOTAL ASSETS 12,929.41  10,876.76 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

16
17

Total equity 6,856.42 4,933.32 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Contd.)
as at March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

As per our report attached
For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Kaushal Kishore 
 

Date : May 21, 2021

Ashish Bharat Ram 
Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Kartik Bharat Ram 
Deputy Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Bharti Gupta Ramola 
Director

Date : May 05, 2021
Rahul Jain 

Date : May 05, 2021

Rajat Lakhanpal 

(Corporate Compliance) and 
Company Secretary

Date : May 05, 2021

Particulars Note
No.

As at
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
 Financial liabilities
 (i) Borrowings 18
 (ii) Lease liabilities 43

21

 Deferred tax liabilities (net)
23

Total non-current liabilities 2,501.86 2,635.51 
Current liabilities
 Financial liabilities
 (i) Borrowings 18
 (ii) Lease liabilities 43
 (iii) Trade payables 20
  a)  Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises 

and small enterprises
  b)  Total outstanding dues of creditors other 

than micro enterprises and small enterprises
21
23

22
Total current liabilities 3,571.13 3,307.93 
Total Liabilities 6,072.99 5,943.44 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12,929.41  10,876.76 

1-3
4 to 46
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CONSOLIDATED Statement of Profit and Loss
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note
No.

 Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2020 

I Revenue from operations 24
II 25
III 8,466.39 7,258.46 
IV Expenses

 Cost of materials consumed

work-in-progress and stock-in-trade
27

 Finance costs 28
 Depreciation and amortisation expense

30
6,853.74 6,343.76 

V 1,612.65  914.70 

VI Tax expense related to continuing 
operations

31

 Current tax
 Deferred tax
  MAT credit entitlement

Total tax expense related to continuing 
operations

 414.40 

VII 1,198.25  915.90 

VIII
operations

42  155.85 

IX Tax expense of discontinued operations 31
X  103.19 

XI 1,197.94 1,019.09 
XII Other comprehensive income

 Income tax on item (i) above

foreign operations

CONSOLIDATED Statement of Profit and Loss (Contd.)
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note
No.

 Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2020 

on designated portion of hedging 

  Income tax on item (ii) above 32
 (iii) - Cost of hedging reserve -
  Income tax on item (iii) above -
Total other comprehensive income for the  127.50 

XIII Total comprehensive income for the year 1,325.44  900.08 

Basic and Diluted earning per equity share in `
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
From continuing and discontinued operations

 4-46

As per our report attached
For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Kaushal Kishore 
 

Date : May 21, 2021

Ashish Bharat Ram 
Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Kartik Bharat Ram 
Deputy Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Bharti Gupta Ramola 
Director

Date : May 05, 2021
Rahul Jain 

Date : May 05, 2021

Rajat Lakhanpal 

(Corporate Compliance) and 
Company Secretary

Date : May 05, 2021
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2020 

A CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 Finance costs
 Interest income

 Amortisation of grant income
 Depreciation and amortisation expense

  -

 Stamp duty on purchase of investments  -

 Trade receivables
 Inventories
 Loans (current)
 Loans (non-current)

 Trade payables

  -

Cash generated from operations  2,026.99  1,447.15 
 Income taxes paid (net of refunds)
Net cash generated from operating activities  1,771.68  1,304.44 

B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Stamp duty on purchase of investments  -
  -
  -

 Costs incurred on sale of business   -
  -

 Interest received 
 Bank balances not considered as cash and cash equivalents

progress and intangible assets

 Grant Received from Government of Republic of Hungary  -
Net cash used in investing activities

C CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 -

 Cost incurred on issue of shares

 Dividends on equity share capital paid
 Corporate dividend tax paid   -

 Finance costs paid

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Contd.)
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2020 

D EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 0.96 1.77 
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  21.85 
 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

 138.29 116.44 
Notes:

“Statement of Cash Flows”
(ii)   During the year, the Company paid in cash ` `

Particulars As at 
March 31, 

2020

Cash 

activities

Non-cash changes As at 
March 31, 

2021
Upfront 

fees 
amortised

Exchange 

changes#

Finance 
cost#

Interim 
dividend 
declared 

Lease 
liability 

recognised
  -   -   -   -     -   

issue expenses)
  -     -   -   -   -     -   

-   -     -   
Current borrowings   -   -   -     -   
Interest accrued   -   -   -     -   
Lease liability   -   -   -   
Dividend and taxes thereon   -   -   -     -   
Total  4,228.20 4.34 10.59  140.50 141.31    3.63  4,277.46 

Particulars As at 
March 31, 

2019

Cash 

activities

Non-cash changes Lease 
liability 

recognised

As at 
March 31, 

2020
Upfront fees 

amortised
Exchange 

changes#

Finance 
cost#

Interim 
dividend 

declared^

-     -   -   -   -   -   
-   -   -   

Current borrowings   -   -   -   -   
Interest accrued   -   -   -   -   
Lease liability -   -   
Dividend and taxes thereon   -   -   - -   
Total 3,826.12 3.42    192.51  208.26 97.01  99.87  4,228.20 
including current maturity of long term debts

^Including taxes on dividend
#including amount capitalized

As per our report attached
For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Kaushal Kishore 
 

Date : May 21, 2021

Ashish Bharat Ram 
Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Kartik Bharat Ram 
Deputy Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Bharti Gupta Ramola 
Director

Date : May 05, 2021
Rahul Jain 

Date : May 05, 2021

Rajat Lakhanpal 

(Corporate Compliance) and 
Company Secretary

Date : May 05, 2021
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Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

264   Annual Report 2020-21

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Amount
Balance at March 31, 2019
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -   
Balance at March 31, 2020  58.50 
Changes in equity share capital during the year
Balance at March 31, 2021  60.26 

Reserves and Surplus* Items of other comprehensive income*

 Capital 
reserve

General 
reserve

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Debenture 
redemption 

reserve

Securities 
Premium

Employee 
share based 

payment 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Equity 
instruments 

through other 
comprehensive 

income

portion of 

hedge 

Cost of 
hedging 
reserve

Balance at March 31, 2019 -  -   
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

the year, net of income tax
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

 -    -    -    -    -    -   1,013.70  -    -   

`14 per share)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Tax on Dividend  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Transfer from Debenture 
redemption reserve

 -    -    -    -   

to employees
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at March 31, 2020 193.77 573.77  10.48  75.00  -    1.56 4,117.69  -   
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

the year, net of income tax 
 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

 -    -    -    -    -    -   1,199.78  36.44  -    86.09  3.13 

` 24 per share)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Tax on Dividend  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

to employees
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Transfer from Debenture 
redemption reserve

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Transfer to Debenture 
redemption reserve

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

shares (net of issue expenses)^
 -    -    -    -   

Balance at March 31, 2021 193.77 648.77  10.48  62.50  736.25  2.52 5,113.66  21.77  7.53  3.13 
Refer note 17

^

As per our report attached
For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Kaushal Kishore 
 

Date : May 21, 2021

Ashish Bharat Ram 
Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Kartik Bharat Ram 
Deputy Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Bharti Gupta Ramola 
Director

Date : May 05, 2021
Rahul Jain 

Date : May 05, 2021

Rajat Lakhanpal 

(Corporate Compliance) and 
Company Secretary

Date : May 05, 2021

1. Corporate Information
  SRF Limited (“the Company”) is a public limited 

Company domiciled in India and incorporated 

The Company’s equity shares are listed at the 

the Company is situated at The Galleria, DLF 

  The principal activities of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (together the Group) are 
manufacturing, purchase and sale of technical 

authorised for issue in accordance with a 

2.1 Basis of Preparation

prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS), under the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 

Act 2013 (“the Act”) as amended thereafter and 

been prepared on an accrual basis and under 
the historical cost convention, except for the 
following assets and liabilities which have been 
measured at fair value:

at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding 

 - Share based payments

The functional currencies of Group companies 

are rounded to the nearest crores, except when 

achieved when the group :

from its involvement with the investee; and 

  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the group loses control of the 

a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the consolidated statement 

control until the date when the group ceases to 

comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the group and to the non-controlling 

subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
group and to the non-controlling interests even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests 

to bring their accounting policies in line with the 

  All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, 

transactions between members of the Group are 
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Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Name of subsidiary Country of 
incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership as at 
March 31, 2021

Proportion of 
ownership as at 
March 31, 2020

Indian Subsidiaries
SRF Holiday Home Limited India 100% 100%

Trust)
India

Foreign Subsidiaries
SRF Global BV 100% 100%

(100% subsidiary of SRF Global BV)
Hungary 100% 100%

SRF Industries (Thailand) Limited
(100% subsidiary of SRF Global BV) 

Thailand 100% 100%

(100% subsidiary of SRF Global BV)
Republic of South 

Africa
100% 100%

(100% subsidiary of SRF Global BV)
Republic of South 

Africa
100% 100%

and the same has not been considered for the 
purposes of consolidation, since the group does 

considered for the purposes of consolidation, 

  The principal accounting policies 
are set out below.

  The group presents assets and liabilities in the 
balance sheet based on current/non-current 

  An asset is treated as current when it is:

or consumed in normal operating cycle

 - Held primarily for the purpose of trading

 -  Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted 
from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least twelve months after the 

 A liability is current when:
 -  It is expected to be settled in normal 

operating cycle
 - It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
 -  There is no unconditional right to defer the 

settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period

  Based on the nature of products and the time 
between acquisition of assets for processing and 

their realisation in cash and cash equivalents, 

operating cycle for the purpose of current / non 

of acquisition or construction less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment 

  All items of property plant and equipment have 
been measured at fair value at the date of 

fair valuation as deemed cost at the transition 

  Cost of acquisition or construction is inclusive of 
freight, duties, non recoverable taxes, incidental 
expenses and interest on loans attributable to 
the acquisition of qualifying assets, up to the 

  Such cost includes the cost of replacing part 
of the plant and equipment and borrowing 
costs for qualifying assets, upto the date of 
commissioning of the assets

performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement 

repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the 

lives, then they are accounted for as separate 
items of property, plant and equipment and 

categories of property, plant and equipment 

assets are not yet ready for their intended use 

are carried at cost comprising direct cost, related 

  Spare parts are capitalized when they meet the 

2.4 Depreciation
  Depreciable amount for assets is the cost of an 

asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less 

  Depreciation has been provided on the cost 
of assets less their residual values on straight 
line method on the basis of estimated useful 
life of assets determined by the Group which 

useful life of the assets have been assessed 
based on technical advice, taking into account 
the nature of the asset, the estimated usage 
of the asset, the operating conditions of the 
asset, past history of replacement, anticipated 
technological changes, manufacturers warranties 

Roads 40-50 years
Buildings (including 
temporary structures)

5-60 years

2-40 years
3-20 years
3-20 years

Vehicles 4-5 years

  Depreciation is calculated on a pro rata basis 
except, assets costing upto ` 5,000 each, which 

  An item of property, plant and equipment or any 

of property plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
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net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the consolidated 

  The estimated useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

2.5 Intangible Assets
  Intangible assets acquired separately are 

  Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 

  Internally generated intangibles, excluding 
capitalised development costs, are not 
capitalised and the related expenditure is 

over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that 

lives considered are as follows:

Trademarks / Brand 10-30 years
Technical Knowhow 30-40 years
Software 3 years

  The group has elected to continue with the 
carrying value of all of its intangibles assets 
recognised as on April 1, 2015 measured as per 

  The amortisation period and the amortisation 

life are reviewed at least at the end of each 

life or the expected pattern of consumption 

asset are considered to modify the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are 

The amortisation expense on intangible assets 

  An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal 

from derecognition of an intangible asset are 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset and are recognised in the statement of 

2.6 Research and development expenditure

products is included under the natural heads of 
expenditure in the year in which it is incurred 
except which relate to development activities 

plan or design for the production of new or 

  Such development costs are capitalised if they 
can be reliably measured, the product or process 
is technically and commercially feasible and the 

  Following initial recognition of the development 
expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if 

development is complete and the asset is 

loss unless such expenditure forms part of 

period of development, the asset is tested for 

2.7 Goodwill
  Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business 

is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business less accumulated 

  For the purposes of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s 

  A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has 
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, 
or more frequently when there is an indication 

amount of the cash-generating unit is less than 
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 

any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on 

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised 

recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 

the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 

2.8  Impairment of tangible and intangible 
assets other than goodwill

  The Group assesses, at each reporting date, 
whether there is an indication that an asset may be 

impairment testing for an asset is required, the 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 

  Recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does 

independent of those from other assets or 

  Impairment loss is recognised when the 

considered impaired and is written down to its 

  In assessing value in use, the estimated future 

market assessments of the time value of money 

fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 

corroborated by valuation multiples or other 

  The Group bases its impairment calculation 
on detailed budgets and forecast, which are 

These budgets and forecast calculations generally 

long-term growth rate is calculated and applied 

covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts, 

budget using a steady or declining growth rate 
for subsequent years, unless an increasing rate 

  For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment 
is made at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses no longer exist 

loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 

is limited so that the carrying amount of the 
asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, 
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nor exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

2.9 Leasing
  At inception of a contract, the Group assesses 

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an 

conveys the right to control the use of an 

implicitly and should be physically distinct or 
represent substantially all of the capacity of a 

substantive substitution right, then the asset is 

asset through the period of use; and 

decision- making rights that are most relevant 
to changing how and for what purpose the 

about how and for what purpose the asset is 
used is predetermined, the Group has the right 
to direct the use of the asset if either: 

 the Group has the right to operate the asset; or 

predetermines how and for what purpose 
it will be used

  An entity shall reassess whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions 

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that 
contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component 

 Group as lessee 
  The Group accounts for assets taken under lease 

arrangement in the following manner: 

  The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 

The right of use asset is initially measured at 
cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 

made at or before the commencement date, plus 
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate 
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 
asset or to restore the underlying asset or 
the site on which it is located, less any lease 

  The right of use asset is subsequently 
depreciated using the straight line method from 
the commencement date to the end of the lease 

assets are determined on the basis of remaining 

periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, 

  The lease liability is initially measured at the 
present value of the lease payments that are 
not paid at the commencement date, discounted 

  Lease payments included in the measurement of 

  The lease liability is measured at amortised 

remeasured when there is a change in future 
lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in Group’s 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable 

under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group 
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise 

  When the lease liability is remeasured in this 

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is 

  Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets

  The Group has elected not to recognise right-of 
use assets and lease liabilities for short term 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or 

recognises the lease payments associated with 
these leases as an expense on a straight- line 

2.10 Borrowing costs
  Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 

costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 

  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the 

from commencement of activities relating to 
construction/development of the qualifying asset 
upto the date of capitalisation of such asset 

borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 

the purpose of acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset, the borrowing 
costs capitalised shall be the actual borrowing 
costs incurred during the period less any interest 
income earned on temporary investment of 

  In case funds are borrowed generally and such 
funds are used for the purpose of acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset, 
the borrowing costs capitalised are calculated 
by applying the weighted average capitalisation 
rate on general borrowings outstanding during 
the period, to the expenditures incurred on the 

after the related asset is ready for its intended 
use, that borrowing is considered part of the 
funds that are borrowed generally for calculating 

2.11  Foreign Currencies
 Transaction and balances
  Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded 

on initial recognition at the exchange rate 

 (i)  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency remaining unsettled at 
the end of the year, are translated at the 
closing rates prevailing on the Balance 

are carried in terms of historical cost 
denominated in foreign currency are 
reported using the exchange rate at the 

at the time of translation or settlement are 

and Loss either under the head foreign 

the case may be, except those relating to 

hedges to the extent that the hedges are 

term foreign currency loans obtained or 
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foreign currency monetary items relating 
to acquisition of depreciable assets are 

and depreciated over the balance useful 

term foreign currency loans obtained 
 

long term foreign currency loans obtained 

treated in accordance with Ind AS 21/ Ind 

2.12 Inventories
  Inventories are valued at cost or net realisable 

determining the cost for various categories of 
inventory are as follows:

 (a)  Raw materials, packing material and stores 
and spares including fuel - Cost includes 
cost of purchase and other costs incurred 
in bringing the inventories to their present 

products in which they are to be incorporated 

 (b)  Traded goods, Stock in progress and 

 (c) By products - At estimated realisable value

price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated 

2.13  Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets

 Provisions
  The group recognised a provision when there 

is a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of past events and it is more likely 

required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

  When the group expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, for example, under 
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset, but only when 

  The expense relating to a provision is presented 

provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 

the increase in the provision due to the passage 

 Contingent liabilities
  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 

arises from past events whose existence will be 

one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the group or a present obligation that 
is not recognised because it is not probable that 

in extremely rare cases where there is a liability 
that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 

a contingent liability but discloses its existence 

commitments are reviewed by the management 

 Contingent assets
  Contingent assets are neither recognised 

However, contingent assets are assessed 
continually and if it is virtually certain that an 

and related income are recognised in the period 

2.14 Revenue recognition

   Revenue from sale of products is 
recognised upon transfer of control of 
products to customers at the time of 
shipment to or receipt of goods by the 

as and when the underlying services are 

in determining whether the performance 

   Revenues are measured based on the 
transaction price, which is the consideration, 
net of tax collected from customers and 
remitted to government authorities such 
as sales tax/value added tax and goods 
and services tax and applicable discounts 

   Any fees including upfront fees received 
in relation to contract manufacturing 
arrangements is recognised on straight 
line basis over the period over which the 

when there is excess of revenue earned 

act of invoicing is pending) when there is 
unconditional right to receive cash as per 

(“contract liability”) is recognised when the 
group has received consideration from the 

   Interest income is recognised when it 

interest rate and the amount of income can 

accrued on time basis, by reference to the 

   Dividend income from investments is 
recognised when the shareholder’s right 
to receive payment has been established 
(provided that it is probable that the 

and the amount of income can be 

Drawback scheme and other schemes 

respect of exports made under the said 
Schemes is included under the head 

“Government Grants”

2.15 Taxation
  Income tax expense represents the sum of the 

   Current income tax assets and liabilities 
are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, at the 

   Current income tax relating to items 

positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax 
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   Deferred tax is provided on temporary 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts at 

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in 

if such items relate to taxes on income 
levied by the same governing tax laws and 
the group has a legally enforceable right 

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that 

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 

re-assessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all 

tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise 

   Deferred tax relating to items recognised 

   Deferred tax assets/liabilities are 
not recognised for below mentioned 

  (i)  At the time of initial 
recognition of goodwill;

  (ii)  Initial recognition of assets or liabilities 
(other than in a business combination) 

  (iii)  In respect of taxable temporary 

investments in subsidiaries, associates 

when the timing of the reversal of 

controlled and it is probable that the 

   Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid in 
accordance with the tax laws, which gives 

considered as an asset if there is convincing 
evidence that the group will pay normal 

recognised in the consolidated Balance 
Sheet when it is probable that future 

   The group considers whether it is probable 
that a taxation authority will accept an 

concludes that it is probable that the 
taxation authority will accept an uncertain 
tax treatment, the group determines the 

tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates 
consistently with the tax treatment used or 

However, if the group concludes that it is 
not probable that the taxation authority 
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the 

loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 

2.16 Government grants
  Government grants are recognised where there 

is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attached conditions will be 

  A government grant that becomes receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses incurred 

or loss on a systematic basis over the periods 
in which the group recognizes as expenses 
the related costs for which the grants are 

  Government grants related to assets are 
presented in the consolidated balance sheet as 

loss on a systematic basis over the expected 

2.17

  Wages and salaries including non monetary 

the operating cycle after the end of the period 
in which the related services are rendered 
are measured at the undiscounted amount 
expected to be paid

schemes are charged to the statement of 

have rendered services entitling them to the 

gratuity, provident fund for certain category of 
employees administered through a recognised 

category of employees administered through 
a recognised provident fund trust and legal 
severance plans are determined on an actuarial 
basis at the end of the year and charged to 

  Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains 

(excluding amounts included in net interest on 

plan assets), are recognised immediately in 
the balance sheet with a corresponding debit 
or credit to retained earnings through other 
comprehensive income in the period in which 

such as compensated absences and retention 

long term retention pay are determined on an 
actuarial basis at the end of the year and charged 

 Share based payments

employees under SRF Long Term Share Based 

fair value (which is the market price less exercise 

This compensation cost relating to employee 
stock purchase scheme is amortised over the 
remaining tenure over which the employees 

2.18 Earnings per share
  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing 
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to equity shareholders by the weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding 

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings 

attributable to equity shareholders and the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding 

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet 

comprise cash at banks and on hand and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of 

 2.20  Financial instruments

   Initial recognition and measurement

at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

  Subsequent measurement
   For purposes of subsequent measurement, 

three categories:

  a) At amortised cost

 

  c)  At fair value through other comprehensive 

   Financial asset is measured at amortised 
cost if both the following conditions are met:

  a)  The asset is held within a business 

assets for collecting contractual 

  b)  Contractual terms of the asset give 

that are solely payments of principal 

    After initial measurement, such 

measured at amortised cost using 

by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the 

in other income in the consolidated 

The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the statement of 

measured at amortised cost or 

Financial assets included within the 

value with all changes recognised in 

  Equity Investments
   All equity investments in the scope of 

trading are measured at fair value through 

   For all other equity instruments, the group 
may make an irrevocable election to present 
subsequent changes in the fair value in 

   The group makes such election on 

   If the group decides to classify an equity 

changes on the instrument, excluding 
dividends, are recognised in other 

  Derecognition

balance sheet) when:

the asset have expired, or

  b)  The group has transferred its rights 

or has assumed an obligation to pay 

material delay to a third party under 
a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 
either (i) the group has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, or (ii) the group has 
neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, but has transferred 

    When the group has transferred its 

an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates 
if and to what extent it has retained 

When it has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the group 
continues to recognise the transferred 

asset to the extent of the group’s 

the group also recognizes an associated 

associated liability are measured on 

Any gain or loss on derecognition is 

    Continuing involvement that takes 
the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount 
of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the group could 

    When the group has retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the transferred asset, 
the group continue to recognise the 
transferred asset in its entirety and 

   The group recognizes loss allowance using 

component is measured at an amount equal 

from initial recognition in which case those 

the loss allowance at the reporting date is 
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in 
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 B  Financial liabilities and Equity instruments
  Initial recognition and measurement

at fair value, net of directly attributable 

borrowings and trade and other payables 

  Subsequent measurement
  Borrowings
   Borrowings are subsequently measured at 

the proceeds(net of transaction cost) 
and the redemption/repayment amount 

   Trade and other payables
   Trade and other payables represent the 

liabilities for goods and services provided to 

the consolidated balance sheet if there is a 

recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets 

  Derecognition

obligation under the liability is discharged 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 

of the original liability and the recognition 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in 

 Equity Instruments

evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
 

Debt or equity instruments issued by the group 

equity in accordance with the substance of 

2.21
instruments and hedge accounting

  Initial recognition and subsequent 
measurement

(such as forward currency contracts, interest 
rate swaps and full currency swaps) or non 

The group has opted for “Hedge Accounting” for 

the inception of the hedge the group formally 
designates a hedge relationship between the 
‘hedging instrument’ and ‘hedged item’ which 

undertaking hedge, the hedging/ economic 
relationship, the hedged item or transaction, the 
nature of the risk being hedged and how the 

the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair 

to determine that they actually have been highly 

instruments are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at fair 

  Any gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of derivatives are taken directly to 

  For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges 

 a)  Fair value hedges when hedging the 
exposure to changes in the fair value of a 

is either attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability 
or a highly probable forecast transaction or 
the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised 

   Hedges that meet the strict criteria for 
hedge accounting are accounted for, as 
described below:

 Fair value hedges
  The change in the fair value of a hedging 

instrument is recognised in the consolidated 

fair value of the hedged item attributable to the 
risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying 
value of the hedged item and is also recognised 

  If the hedged item is derecognised, the 
unamortised fair value is recognised immediately 

commitment is designated as a hedged item, 
the subsequent cumulative change in the fair 

hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability 

with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in 

the hedging instrument is recognised in 

is recognised immediately in the consolidated 

  The Group uses forward currency contracts as 
hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk 

currency contracts is recognised in the 

In some cases, the group separates the premium 
element and the spot element of a forward 
contract and designates only the change in fair 
value of the spot element of forward exchange 
contracts as the hedging instrument in cash 

changes in the fair value of the premium element 
of the forward contract or the foreign currency 

accumulated in a separate component of equity 

of such premium element or foreign currency 

basis over the period of the forward contract or 

  The Group also designates certain non derivative 

borrowings from banks, as hedging instruments 
for the hedge of foreign currency risk associated 
with highly probable transactions and, 

  Amounts recognised as other comprehensive 
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expense is recognised or when a forecast 

  If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised without replacement 
or rollover (as part of the hedging strategy), 
or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or 
when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, the hedge accounting will 

gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income remains separately in 
other equity if the forecast transaction or the 

to occur else the amount shall be immediately 

2.22 Fair value measurement

instruments at fair value at each 

  Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants 

measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

 a)  In the principal market for the asset 
or liability, or

 b)  In the absence of a principal market, in 
the most advantageous market for the 
asset or liability

  The principal or the most advantageous market 

of an asset or a liability is measured using the 
assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that market participants act in their economic 

by using the asset in its highest and best use or 

by selling it to another market participant that 

The group uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 

maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the consolidated 

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 

fair value measurement as a whole:

prices in active markets for identical assets 

included in Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly 

 c)  Level 3- inputs for the asset or liability that 
are not based on observable market data 

  For assets and liabilities that are recognised 

recurring basis, the group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based 

the fair value measurement as a whole) at the 

  For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the group 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and 
risks of the asset or liability and the level of the 

2.23 Foreign Currency translation reserve

foreign operations are translated into Rupees at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting 

translated at exchange rates prevailing at the 

the group uses an average rate to translate 
income and expense items, if the average rate 
approximates the exchange rates at the dates of 

on translation for consolidation are recognised 

2.24 Segment reporting

performance and allocates the resources based 
on an analysis of various performance indicators 

income and expense items which are not 

 Segment Policies:
  The group prepares its segment information in 

conformity with the accounting policies adopted 
for preparing and presenting the consolidated 

Common allocable costs are allocated to each 

2.25 Dividend
  The group recognises a liability to make 

cash distributions to equity holders when the 
distribution is authorised and the distribution 

As per the corporate laws in India, a 
distribution is authorised when it is approved 

2.26  Non-current assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations

amounts will be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction rather than through continuing 

must be committed to a plan to sell, an active 
programme to locate a buyer and complete the 
plan has been initiated, the sale is considered 
highly probable and is expected within one year 

sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 

separately from other assets and liabilities in the 

  A discontinued operation is a component of the 
Company that either has been disposed of, or is 

or geographical area of operations,

 b)  Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to 

or geographical area of operations, or

 c)  Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a 

  Discontinued operations are excluded from 
the results of continuing operations and are 
presented separately in the statement of 

2.27 Recent Pronouncements:

new standards or amendments to the 

The amendments revise Division I, II and III of 

Key amendments relating to Division II which 
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are required to comply with Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 are: 

 Balance Sheet: 

statement of changes in equity such as 
changes in equity share capital due to prior 
period errors and restated balances at the 

trade receivables, trade payables, capital 
work-in-progress and intangible asset 

then disclosure of details of where it 

regulatory requirement’ such as compliance 
with approved schemes of arrangements, 
compliance with number of layers of 
companies, title deeds of immovable 
property not held in name of company, 
loans and advances to promoters, 

and related parties, details of benami 

Social Responsibility (CSR), undisclosed 
income and crypto or virtual currency 

information’ in the notes forming part of the 

   The amendments are extensive and the 
Company will evaluate the same to give 

estimates and assumptions

statements requires management to make 

and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

  Judgements, estimates and underlying assumptions 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any 

plant and equipment and intangible 

including determination of applicable 
tax rate for measuring deferred tax 

contingencies: key assumptions about the 

4. Property, Plant and Equipment
Particulars Freehold 

land
Roads Buildings Plant and 

equipment
Furniture 

equipment 
Vehicle Total

Cost
Balance at March 31,2019 6,663.29 

1,014.06 

Balance at March 31,2020  382.94  74.22  836.28  6,082.10  29.01  64.30  41.70 7,510.55 
1,871.79 

 -   
 72.97 

Balance at March 31,2021  387.30  98.26  1,213.64  7,567.16  33.38  73.14  44.31 9,417.19 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at March 31,2019 - 1,166.84 
Depreciation expenses
- Continuing operations -  364.39 
- Discontinued operations -  -    4.27 

-
-

Balance at March 31,2020 -  7.74  102.52  1,310.27  11.13  35.15  20.81 1,487.62 
Depreciation expenses -
- Continuing operations -  426.78 
- Discontinued operations -  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

-  -   
-  12.46 

Balance at March 31,2021 -  9.99  133.95  1,695.25  13.54  41.66  25.59 1,919.98 

Particulars Freehold 
land

Roads Buildings Plant and 
equipment

Furniture 
equipment 

Vehicle Total

Net block 
Balance at March 31,2020  382.94  66.48  733.75  4,771.84  17.88  29.15  20.89 6,022.93 
Balance at March 31, 2021  387.30  88.27  1,079.69  5,871.91  19.84  31.48  18.72 7,497.21 

Notes:
(i)  Borrowing cost capitalised during the year ` ` 

(iii)  Capital expenditure incurred during the year includes ` `

banks amounting to `

(vi)  The group accounts for all capitalizations of property, plant and equipment through capital work in progress, and, therefore, the 
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5. Goodwill
Cost Amount

Additions  -   
Disposals
Balance at March 31, 2020  4.12 
Additions  -   
Disposals  -   
Balance at March 31, 2021  4.12 

Accumulated impairment losses Amount

Additions
Balance at March 31, 2020  3.50 
Additions  -   
Balance at March 31, 2021  3.50 

Carrying Amount As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020 

Industrial yarn unit
 0.62  0.62 

  SRF Industries(Thailand) Limited closed its Technical Textiles Business operations located at Rayong, 
Thailand, thus corresponding goodwill of ̀

6. Other Intangible Assets
Particulars Trade 

Brands

Technical 
Knowhow

Software Others Total

Cost

 -    -   
Balance at March 31, 2020  77.53  55.19  30.75  19.39  182.86 

 -    -    -   
 -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at March 31, 2021  77.53  55.19  34.94  19.39  187.05 

Particulars Trade 

Brands

Technical 
Knowhow

Software Others Total

Accumulated amortisation

Amortisation expenses
- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations  -    -    -   

 -    -   
Balance at March 31, 2020  16.76  5.95  25.19  18.50  66.40 
Amortisation expenses
- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations  -    -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -   

Balance at March 31, 2021  19.21  7.65  29.27  18.55  74.68 

Carrying Amount
Balance at March 31, 2020   60.77   49.24 5.56  0.89  116.46 
Balance at March 31, 2021   58.32   47.54  5.67  0.84  112.37 

 Notes:

7. Investments
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Non-current
Investment in equity instruments

 4.16  4.16 
Aggregate book value of unquoted investments
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments
Current
Investment in mutual funds
Investment in bonds/Debentures  -   

 412.52  198.50 
Aggregate book value and market value of  quoted investments   -   
Aggregate book value and market value of unquoted 
investments
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As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Number Amount Number Amount

` 10 each fully paid up of  42,21,535  42,21,535 

Less: impairment in value of investments
` 10 each fully paid of Vaayu  50,000  50,000 

` 10 each fully paid of Suryadev  13,54,000  13,54,000 

` 10 each fully paid up of Sanghi 
Spinners India Limited

 6,70,000  6,70,000 

Less: impairment in value of investments  -    -   
 4.16  4.16 

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Number Amount Number Amount

 36,12,365  36,12,365 
 -    -   
 -    -    2,21,205 

 -    -   
 -    -   

 197.16  198.50 

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Number Amount Number Amount

Debentures

Finance Company Limited 2021 of ` 10,00,000 each 
 -    -   

Infrastructure Finance Limited of ` 10,00,000 each 
 -    -   

Financial Services Limited of ` 10,00,000 each 
 -    -   

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Number Amount Number Amount
Bonds

of ` 10,00,000 each 
 -    -   

` 
10,00,000 each

 -    -   

of ` 10,00,000 each
 -    -   

 215.36 -

8. Loans
 (unsecured and considered good, unless otherwise stated)

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Non-current
Loans to employees
Security deposits 
 Related parties (Refer note 35)

 
 46.44  43.87 

Current
Loans to employees
Security deposits

 Credit impaired
 

 11.21  25.17 

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities  
Deferred tax liabilities, net

 18.14   14.26 
 386.16  175.50 
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are as follows:
2020-21  Opening 

balance
Recognised in statement of  MAT Credit 

Entitlement 
utilised

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve for 

the year

 Closing 
Balance 

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operations

Deferred tax assets

future years
 - - -

impaired loans / 
receivables 

 - - -

 - -  -
-  - -  - -

forward losses
- -

 - - -
469.92 2.42  3.01  331.70 

Deferred tax liabilities

equipment and 
intangible assets

 - - -

Investment in mutual 
funds

 - - -  -

- -  - -  -
 - - -  -
 - -

Total 2.42 

2019-20  Opening 
balance

Recognised in statement of  MAT Credit 
Entitlement 

utilised

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve for 

the year

 Closing 
Balance 

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operations

Deferred tax assets

future years
 -    -    -   

impaired loans / 
receivables 

 -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -   
 -    -    -    -    -   

forward losses
 -    -   

 -    -   
 380.47  38.20  8.57  -    45.15  469.92 

2019-20  Opening 
balance

Recognised in statement of  MAT Credit 
Entitlement 

utilised

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve for 

the year

 Closing 
Balance 

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operations

Deferred tax liabilities

equipment and 
intangible assets

 - -  -   

Investment in mutual 
funds

 - -  -    -   

 -    - -  -    -   
 - -  -    -   

 67.26  - -  15.29  8.74 
Total  105.46  8.57 -  60.44  6.27 

Notes:

During the previous year, based on the estimate of expected timing of exercising of the option under Section 115BAA, the 
`

of `
(iii)  MAT credit entitlement of ` `

`
on which no deferred tax asset was created, due to lack of probability of future capital gains against which such deferred 

10. Other Financial Assets
 (unsecured and considered good, unless otherwise stated)

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Non-current

income
- Forward exchange contracts used for hedging  -   

- Government grant and claims recoverable  
 44.69  15.86 

Current

- Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
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As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

- Forward exchange contracts used for hedging  -   
- Interest rate swaps used for hedging  -   

- Insurance claim recoverable
- Government grant and claims recoverable

 
 225.85  170.38 

11. Other Assets
 (unsecured and considered good, unless otherwise stated)

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Non-current
Capital advances

Cenvat/Service tax/Goods and Services Tax/ sales tax 
recoverable

 
Total other non-current assets  244.10  96.50 

Current

Cenvat/Service tax/ Goods and Services Tax/ sales tax 
recoverable

Deposits with customs and excise authorities
Advance to suppliers

 
Total other current assets  266.96  280.80 

12. Inventories

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Raw material (including packing material)
Stock in progress
Finished goods
Stores and spares (including fuel)
Traded goods  

 1,465.82  1,201.23 

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Goods-in-transit included above :
Raw material (including packing material)
Finished goods
Stores and spares (including fuel)
Traded goods  

 343.29  223.77 
 Notes
 (i)  The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes ̀  `

13. Trade Receivables
Current As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020

 
 1,274.56  891.07 

 (i)  The credit period generally allowed on sales varies, on a case to case basis, business to business and based on 

 (ii)  Age of receivables :

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Within the credit period

1 to 180 days past due

More than 180 days past due  

 1,279.59  894.68 

 (iii)  The group has entered into receivables purchase agreements with banks to unconditionally and irrevocably sell, 

sold as on March 31, 2021 are of ` `
these receivables as it has transferred its contractual rights to the banks with substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and retains no control over these receivables as the banks have the right to further sell and transfer 

 (iv)  The group sold, with recourse, trade receivables amounting to ̀

bank loan (Refer note 18)
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14. Cash and Cash Equivalents
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Balances with banks   

Current accounts

Deposit accounts with maturity of three months or less
Cash on hand  

 138.29  116.44 

15. Bank Balances Other than Above
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
  

- Margin money

 -  Deposit accounts with maturity beyond three months upto 
twelve months

 

 143.71  9.03 

16. Share Capital
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Authorised share capital:   

` 10 each
` 100 each

` 50 each

of ` 100 each
 336.00  336.00 

Issued capital:
` 10 each  63.30  61.54 

Subscribed capital:
` 10 

each fully paid up
Add: Forfeited shares - Amount originally paid up  

 60.26  58.50 

16.1 Fully paid equity shares
Number of shares Amount

Balance at March 31, 2019  5,74,80,500  57.48 
Add : Movement during the year  -    -   
Balance at March 31, 2020  5,74,80,500  57.48 

 17,64,705 
Balance at March 31, 2021  5,92,45,205  59.24 

were issued at an issue price of ` 4,250 per share (including securities premium of ` 4,240 per share) for 
an aggregate consideration of ` `

  The parent has only one class of equity shares having a par value of `

shareholders was ` `

  In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining 

16.2 Details of shares held by the holding company
Number of fully paid 

ordinary shares
As at March 31, 2021
KAMA Holdings Limited, the Holding group
As at March 31, 2020
KAMA Holdings Limited, the Holding group

16.3 Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares:

shareholder 
As at  March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020

Number of 
shares held

% holding in 
that class of 

shares 

Number of 
shares held

% holding in 
that class of 

shares 
Fully paid equity shares
Kama Holdings Limited

33,73,411 41,78,636



294   Annual Report 2020-21  295

CO
RPO

RATE O
VERVIEW

STATU
TO

RY REPO
RTS

FIN
AN

CIAL STATEM
EN

TS

Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

17. Other Equity
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
General reserve
Retained earnings

Cost of hedging reserve  -   
Capital redemption reserve  
Capital reserve  
Debenture redemption reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Reserve for equity instruments through other comprehensive income

Securities premium   -   
 6,796.16  4,874.82 

17.1 General reserve
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) during the year  -   
Balance at end of year  648.77  573.77 

is created by transfer from one component of equity to another and is not an item of other comprehensive 

17.2 Retained earnings
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Balance at beginning of year

Corporate tax on dividend  -    
Transfer to debenture redemption reserve  -   
Balance at end of year  5,113.66  4,117.69 

  The amount that can be distributed as dividend by the parent to its equity shareholders is determined 

 net of income tax of ` `

17.3

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year
Recognized/(reclassed) during the year
Income tax related to above  
Balance at end of year  7.53 

The cumulative gain or loss arising on changes in the fair value of the designated portion of the hedging 

17.4 Cost of hedging reserve

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year  -    -   
Recognized/(reclassed) during the year  -   
Income tax related to above  -   
Balance at end of year  3.13  -   

  The cost of hedging reserve reflects gain or loss on the portion excluded from the designated 

in other comprehensive income and accounted for similarly to gains or losses in the cash flow 

17.5 Capital redemption reserve

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) during the year  -    -   
Balance at end of year  10.48  10.48 

  Capital Redemption reserve is a statutory, non-distributable reserve into which amounts are transferred 
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17.6 Capital reserve
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) during the year  -    -   
Balance at end of year  193.77  193.77 

17.7 Debenture redemption reserve

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) during the year  -   
Transfer from retained earnings  -   
Balance at end of year  62.50  75.00 

17.8 Reserve for equity instruments through other comprehensive income

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) during the year  -    -   
Balance at end of year

  This reserves represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of equity instruments 

17.9 Foreign currency translation reserve

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year  21.77 

`

17.10 Employee share based payment reserve

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) during the year  
Balance at end of year  2.52  1.56 

The share based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share based payments 

17.11 Securities premium

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Balance at beginning of year  -    -   
Increase/(decrease) during the year   -   
Balance at end of year  736.25  -   

The same may be inter-alia utilised, for issue of fully paid bonus shares or for buy-back of equity shares by 
`

18. Borrowings
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Non-current   
Secured   

of `

 

 1,965.01  1,692.70 
Unsecured 

-
-  618.93 

 1,965.01  2,311.63 
Current
Secured

 -   
 345.30  266.84 
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As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Unsecured
Loans repayable on demand from banks 
Commercial papers from banks and others #

 620.40  688.60 
 965.70  955.44 

 Above amount of borrowings are net of upfront fees paid ` `

 # The maximum amount due during the year is ` `

18.1 Details of security of the secured loans:

Details of Loan As at
March 31, 

2021#

As at
March 31, 

2020#

Security

1

Convertible Debentures of ` 10 
lakhs each

Terms and conditions
a)  Redeemable at face value in 

one single  instalment at the 
end of 3rd year from the date 

b)  Coupon is payable annually on  

-   Debentures were secured by hypothecation of  
Company’s moveable properties, both present 
and future, situated at Manali, Viralimalai 
(other than moveable assets of Coated 
Fabrics Business) and Gummidipoondi in the 

than moveable assets of Laminated Fabrics 

(excluding certain assets) and an equitable 
mortgage of Company’s immoveable 
properties, both present and future, situated 
at Viralimalai, Gummidipoondi (freehold land) 

2
3 Months T-Bill + 188 bps, Listed, 

Convertible Debentures of the face 
value of 10 lakhs each

Terms and conditions
a)  Redeemable at face value in 

one single  instalment at the 
end of 2nd year from the date 

b)  Coupon is payable on a  

-   Debentures are secured by hypothecation of  
Company’s moveable properties, both present 
and future, situated at Manali, Viralimalai 
(other than moveable assets of Coated 
Fabrics Business) and Gummidipoondi in the 

than moveable assets of Laminated Fabrics 

Details of Loan As at
March 31, 

2021#

As at
March 31, 

2020#

Security

Moveable property
3 (i) Term loan from Banks

aggregating to `
`

hypothecation of Company’s moveable 
properties, both present and future, situated 
at Manali, Viralimalai (other than moveable 
assets of Coated Fabrics Business) and 

than moveable assets of Laminated Fabrics 

certain assets) 

aggregating to ̀
`

secured by hypothecation of Company’s 
moveable properties, both present and 
future, situated at Manali, Viralimalai(other 
than moveable assets of Coated Fabrics 
Business) and Gummidipoondi in the State 

and Kashipur(other than moveable assets of 
Laminated Fabrics Business) in the State of 

(save and except certain assets)
Immoveable property

aggregating to `
`

equitable Mortgage of Company’s immoveable 
properties, both present and future, situated 
at Viralimalai, Gummidipoondi (freehold land) 

aggregating to `
`

equitable Mortgage of Company’s immoveable 
properties, both present and future, situated at 
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Details of Loan As at
March 31, 

2021#

As at
March 31, 

2020#

Security

aggregating to ̀ `
are additionally secured by equitable Mortgage of 
Company’s immoveable properties, both present and 
future, situated at Malanpur in the State of Madhya 

aggregating  to: 
(a) ` `
be secured by equitable mortgage of immoveable 
properties at Viralimalai, Gummidipoondi (freehold 

(b) ` `
are to be further secured by equitable mortgage of 
Company’s immoveable properties, both present and 

(ii) Term loan from banks Term loan  is secured by pledge of 85% of the share 

(iii) Term loan from banks Term loan  is secured by mortgage of existing 
plant and machinery, land and building  and/or any 

4 (i) Term loans from others Term loan availed from International Finance 
Corporation, Washington is secured by continuing 
coverage mortgage bond over the land, special 
notarial bond and general notarial bond over the 

(ii) Term loans from others Loan of ` `
Crores) is secured by the hypothecation and 
equitable mortgage of Company’s moveable and 
immoveable properties at Dhar in the State of 

5 (i)  Loans repayable on demand from 
banks

Secured by hypothecation of stocks, stores and book 
debts (current assets), both present and future at 
Manali, Viralimalai (other than current assets of Coated 
Fabrics Business) and Gummidipoondi in the State 

and Kashipur (other than current assets of Laminated 

Details of Loan As at
March 31, 

2021#

As at
March 31, 

2020#

Security

(ii)  Loans repayable on demand from 
banks

Working capital facilities is secured by pledge of 85% 

Global BV and pledge over receivables arising out of 
trade agreements

(iii)  Cash credit from banks Working capital facilities availed by SRF Flexipak (South 

and limited cession and pledge of credit balances
(iv) Bills discounted with Banks - Secured against certain trade receivables of the 

of  `

` 500 crores which was secured by assets as mentioned 

#Gross of upfront fees paid ` `

18.2 Terms of loans
 As at March 31, 2021
 Non Current Borrowings

Loan Category Frequency of 
principal 
repayments

Interest rate Up to
March 31, 

2022

Up to
March 31, 

2023

Up to
March 31, 

2024

From
2024 to 

2027
Redeemable 

Debentures

Redeemable at 
face value in 
one Instalment 
at the end of  
second year 

Floating rate at -   -   -   

Term loan from 
banks

Half yearly 
instalment

Ranging from 

Instalment
Ranging from 

Floating rate at  -   

Bullet payments Fixed rate at  -    -    -   

Term loan from 
others

Half yearly
payments

Ranging from 

 462.41  758.76  373.16  835.95 

 Amounts mentioned above are gross of upfront fees paid of `
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 Current Borrowings

18.2 Terms of loans
 As at March 31, 2020
 Non Current Borrowings

Loan Category Frequency 
of principal 
repayments

Interest rate Up to
March 31, 

2021

Up to
March 31, 

2022

Up to
March 31, 

2023

From
2023 to 

2027
Redeemable 

Debentures

Redeemable at 
face value in one 
instalment at the 
end of third year

Fixed rate of -   -   -   

Term loan from 
banks

Half yearly 
instalment

Ranging from 

Instalment
Ranging from 

Ranging from 

Bullet payments Ranging from  -    -   

Term loan from 
others

Half yearly 
instalments

Ranging from 

 782.21  731.48  808.81  778.28 

 Amounts mentioned above are gross of upfront fees paid of `

 CURRENT BORROWINGS

 Terms of repayment
 1)  Reedemable non convertible debenture of `

year: ` 300 Crores are repayable in one bullet instalment in June 2020)

 2)  Rupee term loans of `

`

 3)  Rupee term loans of `
year: `

 4)  Rupee term loans of ` `

 5)  Rupee term loans of `

`

 6)  Reedemable non convertible debenture of `

 7)  Rupee term loans of `

 8)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀
`

`

`

 10)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀
`

 11)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀ `

 12)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀
`

 13)  Foreign currency term loan of `

`

 14)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀
`

 15)  Foreign currency term loan of `

 16)  Foreign currency term loan of ` `

 17)  Foreign currency term loan of ` `

 18)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀ `

`

`

 20)  Foreign currency term loan of ̀
`

 21)  Foreign currency term loan of `

`
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19. Provisions
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Non-Current   

  

 43.55  37.53 
Current

  

 -    
 8.68  6.62 

20. Trade Payables
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises#

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises 
and small enterprises

 

 
 1,585.19  1,111.69 

 #

20.1 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

(suppliers) as at the end of year

- Interest due thereon -   -   
Amount of payments made to suppliers beyond the 
appointed day during the year

-   -   
-  Interest actually paid under section 16 of  -   

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Amount of interest due and payable for delay in 
payment (which has been paid but beyond the 
appointed day during the year) but without adding 

-   -   

Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of 
the year
- Interest accrued during the year -   -   
- Interest remaining unpaid as at the end 
  of the year

-   -   

Interest remaining due and payable even in the 
succeeding years, until such date when the interest 
dues are actually paid, for the purpose of disallowance 
of a deductible expenditure

-   -   

21. Other Financial Liabilities
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Non-Current   
Derivatives carried at fair value through other comprehensive income   

- Forward exchange contracts used for hedging  -   
- Interest rate swaps used for hedging 

 0.54  22.87 
Current
Current maturities of long term borrowings (Refer note 18)
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings

Security deposits received

  Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises#

  Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

Derivatives carried at fair value through other comprehensive income
 - Forward exchange contracts used for hedging  -   
 - Interest rate swaps used for hedging  -   

 - Forward exchange contracts used for hedging  -   
 

 892.54  1,124.54 

 #
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22. Tax Assets and Liabilities
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Non - Current tax assets   
Advance tax (net of provision for tax)
Current tax assets
Advance tax (net of provisions for tax) -
Current tax liablities

23. Other Liabilities
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
Non-current   

 42.77  14.00 
Current
Contract liability (Refer note 41)
Statutory liabilities

 
 92.73  86.18 

development of the clothing and textiles competitiveness programme - RCF in respect of its property, plant and 

`

 The unamortised grant amount as on March 31, 2021 is ` `

24. Revenue from Operations*
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Sale of products  

Manufactured goods
Traded goods

 8,295.40  7,062.12 
Other operating revenues

Claims

Scrap sales
 

 104.64  147.29 
 8,400.04  7,209.41 

 Reconciliation of revenue from sale of products with the contracted price

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Contracted price
Less: Discounts, allowances and claims
Sale of products  8,295.40  7,062.12 

25. Other Income*
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Interest Income  

- from customers
- on loans and deposits
- on others

 -   

 
 66.35  49.05 

26.1 Cost of Materials Consumed
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
 

- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations  -   

- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations  -   

Less: Closing stock of raw materials
- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations  -    -   

Cost of materials consumed*
- Continuing operations  4,027.68  3,687.39 
- Discontinued operations  -    116.34 
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26.2 Purchases of Stock in Trade*
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020

 62.92  91.40 

26.3 Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods, Work in Progress and Stock in Trade
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Inventories at the end of the year:  
- Continuing operations

Finished goods
Traded goods

 519.38  444.71 

- Continuing operations

Finished goods
 3.03 

 - Discontinued operations
 -   

Finished goods  -   
 -    0.97 

Inventories at the beginning of the year:
- Continuing operations

Finished goods
Traded goods

 444.71  354.14 
- Discontinued operations

 -    -   
Finished goods  -   
Traded goods  -   

 -    24.32 

- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations  -    25.29 

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Salaries and wages, including bonus
Contribution to provident and other funds

Share based payment expense (Refer note 37)  
 621.40  541.92 

28. Finance Cost*
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Interest cost^

 - Term loans and others
 - Lease liabilities

 
 133.95  200.68 

 ^

29. Depreciation and Amortisation Expense*
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of Right of use assets  

 453.08  388.61 

30. Other Expense*
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020

Labour production
Directors' sitting fees

Freight charges
Insurance 

Legal and professional charges
Rates and taxes 

Repairs and maintenance
-  Buildings 

Selling commission
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Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Stores and spares consumed
Travelling and conveyance

- Audit Fees

- For tax audit
- Reimbursement of out of pocket expenses

 -   

Miscellaneous expenses  
 1,626.37  1,525.58 

 #including fees paid to auditors of subsidiary companies
`

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

 Tax expense related to continuing operations
 Tax expense related to discontinued operations

 411.98  51.46 

 Current tax
  In relation to current year

 357.99  104.26 
 Deferred tax   
 - MAT credit entitlement   
   In relation to current year  -   

  
  In relation to current year

 61.79 

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

 Tax expense related to discontinued operations   
 Current tax
  In relation to current year  -   
Deferred tax

 
  In relation to current year

 -   
 52.66 

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

 From continuing operations
 From discontinued operations

 1,609.92  1,070.55 

and deductions under Chapter - VIA of Income Tax Act)

term capital losses (Refer note (iii) below)
 -   

 -   

relation to current year
 412.99  79.17 

earlier years (Refer note (ii) below)
 411.98  51.46 

 Notes:
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 (ii)  Income tax  in relation to earlier years includes tax credit of ` `

 (iii)  The Company had `

recognition of long term capital gain, a tax credit of `

32. Income Tax Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Arising on income and expense recognised in other 
comprehensive income

Cost of hedging reserve  -   
 

 60.44 
Bifurcation of the income tax recognised in other 
comprehensive income into:

 
 60.44 

33. Contingent Liabilities
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at  

March 31, 2020
a. Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts:

 

` `

` `

` `

` `

`
`

 
why additional customs / excise duty / service tax amounting to `
`

  (ii)  The Company had received a draft assessment order for assessment year 2016-17 on 
`

`

demand of `

against research and development disallowance as well as towards certain computation error 

  (iii)  The Company has received a show cause notice for assessment year 2017-18 on April 23, 2021 
`

be and therefore cannot be predicted accurately or relate to a present obligations that arise from 

34. Capital and Other Commitments
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at  

March 31, 2020

capital account and not provided for (net of advances)
(ii)  The group has other commitments, for purchases / sales orders which are issued after considering requirements 

outstanding is ` `
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35. Related Party Transactions
35.1 Description of related parties under Ind AS- 24 “Related party disclosures“

Ultimate holding entity
ABR Family Trust Arun Bharat Ram

Ashish Bharat Ram
Holding Company Kartik Bharat Ram
KAMA Holdings Limited

Lakshman Lakshminarayan
Fellow subsidiaries # Vellayan Subbiah 
KAMA Realty (Delhi) Limited Meenakshi Gopinath

Bharti Gupta Ramola

#

SRF Foundation 
Relatives of KMP#

Sushil Ramola 
SRF Welfare Trust

Murugappan Vellayan Subbiah

Relatives of KMP of Holding Company#

KMP of Holding Company#

Enterprises over which relative of KMP has control#

 #

35.2 Transactions with related parties
 Year ended 

March 31, 2021 
 Year ended

March 31, 2020 
Purchase of property, plant & equipment and intangible 
assets from

Holding company -
-  0.15 

Sale of property, plant & equipment and intangible 
assets to

Holding company  -   
 -    0.20 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended
March 31, 2020 

Sale of goods to
 -   
 -    0.25 

Rent paid
Fellow Subsidiaries
Key management personnel

 7.14  7.19 
Reimbursement of expenses from

Holding Company
Fellow Subsidiaries

 0.06  0.06 
Receiving of Services from :

-
 0.07 -

Deposits received back from
Fellow Subsidiaries -

-
-  0.16 

Contribution for expenditure on corporate social 
responsibility

  9.18 12.00 

 35.41  24.31 

Holding Company
Fellow Subsidiaries  -   

 -   
 0.02  0.13 

`

Holding Company  -   
 -    0.09 

Equity dividend paid
Holding Company
Key management personnel

 ^^  -   
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 Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended
March 31, 2020 

 ^  ^ 
 ^^^  -   

 72.31  42.17 
^Amount in absolute `
^^Amount in absolute `
^^^ Amount in absolute `

35.3 Outstanding Balances:

Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Year ended
March 31, 2020 

Commission payable
Key management personnel

 12.84  10.22 
Payable

 4.53  14.37 
Security deposits outstanding

Fellow Subsidiaries
Key management personnel

 3.54  3.54 

35.4 Key management personnel compensation
Year ended  

March 31, 2021
Year ended  

March 31, 2020

 28.62  25.11 

36.1

Indian entities Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Superannuation fund (Refer to note (i) below)

Commissioner (Refer to note (ii) below)

 16.40  15.80 

Foreign subsidiaries Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Contribution to provident fund
Skill, development and Social Security Fund

 5.84  3.07 

has an obligation to make good for the shortfall, if any, between the yield on the investments of the 

36.2

 (a) Gratuity

interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

  Investment Risk
   The probability or likelihood of occurrence of losses relative to the expected return on any 
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 Salary Risk

 Interest Risk

 Longevity Risk

Indian entities As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Gratuity Provident Fund Gratuity Provident Fund

Discount Rate
- -

Salary increase - -
Retirement Age (years)
Mortality Rates IALM 

(2012-14)
IALM 

(2012-14)
IALM 

(2012-14)
IALM 

(2012-14)
Withdrawal rate

31 to 44 years
Above 44 years

Foreign subsidiaries
As at  

March 31, 2021
As at  

March 31, 2020
Discount Rate
Salary increase
In service mortality  

2017
 

2017
Retirement Age 55 55
Withdrawal Rate
 - up to 20 years 15% 20%
 - 21-30 15% 16%
 - 31-40 8% 10%
 - 41-50 3% 3%
 - 51 onwards 2% 2%

follows:

Indian entities  Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Year ended
March 31, 2020 

Gratuity Provident Fund Gratuity Provident Fund
Current Service cost
Interest expenses (net of expected 
return on plan assets)

-   -   

 9.10 6.75 7.83 6.07 

Foreign subsidiaries
 Year ended 

March 31, 2021
 Year ended  

March 31, 2020

 0.99  15.67 

Indian entities Gratuity
 Year ended 

March 31, 2021
 Year ended  

March 31, 2020
Actuarial (gain)/losses on plan assets

assumptions
Actuarial (gain)/losses arising from changes in 

 8.19 
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Foreign subsidiaries
 Year ended 

March 31, 2021
 Year ended  

March 31, 2020

assumptions
Actuarial (gain)/losses arising from changes in 

 0.06 

Indian entities  As at 
March 31, 2021 

 As at
March 31, 2020 

Gratuity Provident Fund Gratuity Provident Fund

Fair value of plan assets

 -    -    -    -   

Foreign subsidiaries
 As at 

March 31, 2021
 As at  

March 31, 2020

Fair value of plan assets  -    -   

Indian entities  As at 
March 31, 2021 

As at
March 31, 2020

Gratuity Provident Fund Gratuity Provident Fund

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/losses arising from  -    -   

Actuarial (gain)/losses arising from  -    -   

Contribution by plan participants / 
employees

 -    -   

Settlement/ transfer in  -   

obligation
 98.72  158.91  85.78  137.01 

Foreign subsidiaries
 As at 

March 31, 2021
 As at  

March 31, 2020

Current Service Cost
Interest Cost

assumptions
Actuarial (gain)/losses arising from changes in 

 4.14  3.99 

Indian entities  As at 
March 31, 2021

 As at  
March 31, 2020

Gratuity Provident Fund Gratuity Provident Fund

Return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net 
interest expenses)
Contributions from employer
Contributions from plan 
participants

 -    -   

Settlement/ transfer in  -   
Closing fair value of plan assets  94.20  157.71  69.96  136.55 

 Gratuity:

a contribution of ` `

 Provident fund:
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  Sensitivity Analysis

possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of reporting period, while holding all 

Indian entities  Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Year ended
March 31, 2020 

0.50% 
increase

0.50% 
decrease

0.50% 
increase

0.50% 
decrease

Sensitivity analysis of Gratuity

Discount rate

Sensitivity analysis of 
Provident Fund

Foreign subsidiaries  Year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Year ended
March 31, 2020 

1.00% 
increase

1.00% 
decrease

1.00% 
increase

1.00% 
decrease

Sensitivity analysis of Legal 
Severance Pay
Discount rate

36.3

head “Salaries and wages, including bonus” 

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Long term retention pay (refer to note (i) below)  -   
Compensated absences

 11.57 11.40

37. Employee Share Based Payments

of shares under the Scheme are accounted for on the basis of fair value of the share on the grant date 

so determined is expensed on a straight line basis over the remaining tenure over which the employees 

earlier years, the Company has recognised ̀
`

38. Segment Reporting
  Based on the guiding principles laid down in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) - 108 “Segment Reporting”, 

of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the business of the Group is segregated in 
the segments below:

and industrial yarns and its research and development

above, the accounting policies in relation to segment accounting are as under:

   Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of operating 
cash, trade receivables, inventories and property plant and equipment and intangible assets, net of 

Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of creditors and accrued 

attributed to individual segments, the carrying amount of certain assets / liabilities pertaining to two 
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A. Information about operating business segments
Year ended 

March 31, 2021
Year ended

March 31, 2020
Segment revenue
a) Technical textiles business (TTB)

 - Inter-segment sales
Total  1,240.11  1,357.55 
b) Chemicals business (CB)

 - Inter-segment sales  -    -   
Total  3,644.89  2,974.96 

 - Inter-segment sales  -   
Total  3,291.72  2,603.99 

 - Inter-segment sales  -   
Total  232.02  278.34 

Total segment revenue  8,408.74  7,214.84 
Less: Inter segment revenue
Revenue from operations  8,400.04  7,209.41 

Total revenue  8,466.39  7,258.46 

a) Technical textiles business (TTB)
b) Chemicals business (CB)

Total segment results  1,828.50  1,250.36 

 1,612.65  914.70 
 155.85 

 1,609.92  1,070.55 

Capital expenditure
a) Technical textiles business (TTB)
b) Chemicals business (CB)

Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

Total  1,254.95  1,683.14 

Depreciation and amortisation
a) Technical Textiles Business (TTB)
b) Chemicals Business (CB)

Films B

Total  453.08  388.61 

 Segment assets and liabilities

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Segment assets
a) Technical Textiles Business (TTB)
b) Chemicals Business (CB)

Films B

Total  12,039.43  10,402.70 

 -   
Total assets  12,929.41  10,876.76 

Segment liabilities
a) Technical Textiles Business (TTB)
b) Chemicals Business (CB)

Films B

Total  2,198.11  1,526.77 

Total liabilities  6,072.99  5,943.44 
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B. Information about geographical business segments
Year ended 

March 31, 2021
Year ended

March 31, 2020
Revenue from operations
- India
- South Africa
- Singapore
- Germany

- Thailand
- Hungary  - 
- Switzerland
- Belgium

 8,400.04  7,209.41 

Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

Non current segment assets
Within India

 8,843.31  7,857.39 

Revenue from major products Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

 Waste/others  -   

 Speciality Chemicals
 Fluorochemicals, Refrigerant Gases and allied products
 Industrial Chemicals
 Waste/others

Films

 Coated Fabric, Laminated Fabric and other ancillary activities
 8,295.40  7,062.12 

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

calculating basic earning per share and diluted earning per share:
  

- From continuing operations
- From discontinued operations
- From continuing and discontinued operations
Weighted average number of equity shares of the company 
used in calculating basic earning per share and diluted earning 

 5,82,83,078  5,74,80,500 

Basic and diluted earnings per share of face value `10 each   
- From continuing operations (`)
- From discontinued operations (`)
- From continuing and discontinued operations (`)

40. Financial Instruments and Risk Management
40.1 Capital Management
  The group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern and provide 

The capital structure of the group consists of net debt (borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits accounts with maturity beyond three months upto twelve months and current investments) 

  The following table provides the details of the debt and equity at the end of the reporting periods:

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Debt
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits accounts with maturity beyond three months upto 
twelve months
Current investments
Net debt  2,782.58  3,819.47 
Total equity  6,856.42  4,933.32 
Net debt to equity ratio  0.41  0.77 
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40.2 Financial instruments by category

Financial assets Level of 
hierarchy

Notes Carrying value as at Fair value as at
As at 

March 31, 
2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020
Measured at amortised cost
Trade Receivables a
Cash and cash equivalents a
Bank balances other than 
above

a

Loans a, b
a, b

 1,793.81  1,271.74  1,793.81  1,271.74 
Measured at Fair value 

Investments in mutual funds 
and bonds/debentures

2 d

Derivative instruments 2 d
 416.91  198.58  416.91  198.58 

Measured at Fair 
value through Other 
comprehensive income
Investments in unquoted 
equity instruments

3 d

Derivative instruments 2 d  -    -   
 90.71  4.16  90.71  4.16 

Measured at amortised cost
Borrowings a, c
Trade payables a

a
 5,408.44  5,455.54  5,408.44  5,455.54 

Measured at Fair value 

Derivative instruments 2 d  - -
 -  2.58 -  2.58 

Measured at Fair 
value through Other 
comprehensive income
Derivative instruments 2 d

 0.54  68.04 0.54  68.04 

 The following methods / assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

rates (applicable to instruments with similar terms, currency, credit risk and remaining maturities) to 

 (d)  The fair value is determined by using the valuation model/technique with observable/non-observable 

and March 31, 2020

 Level 1:

 Level 2:

using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for such items, either 

ended mutual funds and bonds/debentures

 Level 3:

in whole or in part, using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices 

The main item in this category are unquoted equity instruments

used to estimate the fair values:

 (i)  Investments in mutual funds and bonds/debentures: Fair value is determined by reference to quotes 

 (ii)  Derivative contracts: The group has entered into various foreign currency contracts and interest 

to market values determined by the authorized dealers banks and forward exchange rates at the 
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements Unlisted equity instruments
As at March 31, 2019  0.11 

As at March 31, 2020  4.16 
 -   

As at March 31, 2021  4.16 

40.3 Financial Risk Management

  Financial risk management within the group is governed by policies and guidelines approved by the senior 

40.3.1 Market Risk

 A. Foreign Currency Risk Management

   In the operating activities, the group’s exchange rate risk primarily arises when revenue / costs are 

with the Board approved policy, the Group manages the net exposure on a rolling 12 month basis and 

  The carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 
at the end of the reporting periods expressed in `are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020
As at 

March 31, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2020

 -    -   

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

  The following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the ` against the 

Year ended March 31, 2021 Year ended March 31, 2020
` strengthens 

by 1%
` weakens  

by 1%
` strengthens 

by 1%
` weakens  

by 1%

the exchange loss/ (gain) arising on long term foreign currency monetary items relating to acquisition of depreciable 
assets will be added to/deducted from the cost of such assets/capital work-in-progress and will be depreciated over the 

comprehensive income)
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manages its foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are expected to occur within 1 to 

When a derivative is entered into for the purpose of being a hedge, the group negotiates the terms 

forecasted up to the point of settlement of the resulting receivable or payable that is denominated 

  The following table details the foreign currency derivative contracts outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period:

Outstanding 
Contracts*

Maturity 

No of Deals Contract Value of 
Foreign Currency

Up to 12 months
Nominal Amount*

`

More than 12 months
Nominal Amount*

`

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

forward
 264 

forward
 17  27 

forward
 -    4  -    -    -    -   

forward
 20  -    -    -    -    -   

forward
 20  -    -   

forward
 -    1  -    -    -    -   

forward
 -    1  -    -    -    -   

  The following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the ` against the relevant foreign 

Year ended March 31, 2021 Year ended March 31, 2020
Functional 

currency 
strengthens  

by 1%

Functional 
currency 
weakens  

by 1%

Functional 
currency 

strengthens  
by 1%

Functional 
currency 
weakens  

by 1%

for the year

Impact on equity

B. Interest Rate Risk Management

` `

` `

  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that 

Year ended March 31, 2021 Year ended March 31, 2020
` loans interest 
rate decreases 

by 0.50%

Foreign 
currency loans 

interest rate 
decreases  
by 0.15%

` loans interest 
rate decreases 

by 0.50%

Foreign 
currency loans 

interest rate 
decreases  
by 0.15%

tax by

  In case of increase in interest rate by above mentioned percentage, there would be a comparable negative 



334   Annual Report 2020-21  335

CO
RPO

RATE O
VERVIEW

STATU
TO

RY REPO
RTS

FIN
AN

CIAL STATEM
EN

TS

Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the CONSOLIDATED financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2021 
(All amounts in ` Crores, unless otherwise stated)

 Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2020 issued by the Ministry of Corporate 

 Refer below for details regarding interest rate swaps.

 Interest Rate Swap Contracts

 The following table details the IRS contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:
Outstanding 
Contracts

Maturity 
No of Deals Contract Value of 

Foreign Currency
Up to 12 months

Nominal Amount*
`

More than 12 months
Nominal Amount*

`

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 

2020
IRS 4 3

 

swap and the interest payments on the loan are paid simultaneously and are charged to statement of 

 

C. Hedge accounting 

  The amounts at the reporting date relating to the item designed as hedge items are as follows:
Hedging 
instruments

As at 
March 31, 2021

Year ended 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Year ended
March 31, 

2020

amount 
(` Crores)

Carrying 
amount
Assets / 

(liabilities)
(` Crores)

Line item where 
the hedging 
instrument is 
included

Change in 
the value of 
the hedging 
instrument 
recognised  

` 
Crores)

amount
(` Crores)

Carrying 
amount
Assets / 

(liabilities)
(` Crores)

Line item 
where the 
hedging 
instrument is 
included

Change in 
the value of 
the hedging 
instrument 
recognised  

(` Crores)
Foreign 
exchange 
contracts assets / 

liabilities 
(current and 
non - current)

assets / 
liabilities 
(current and 
non - current)

Foreign currency 
denominated 
loans

current 
borrowings

borrowing

Interest rate 
swap contacts

assets 
(current and 
non - current)

 -   

assets 
(current 
and non - 
current)

liabilities 
(current and 
non - current)

liabilities 
(current 
and non - 
current)

 Fair Value hedges
  The amounts at the reporting date relating to the item designed as hedge items are as follows:

Hedging 
instruments

As at 
March 31, 2021

Year ended 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Year ended
March 31, 

2020

amount 
(` Crores)

Carrying 
amount
Assets / 

(liabilities)
(` Crores)

Line item 
where the 
hedging 
instrument is 
included

Change in 
the value of 
the hedging 
instrument 

recognised in 
consolidated 
statement of  

amount
(` Crores)

Carrying 
amount
Assets / 

(liabilities)
(` Crores)

Line item 
where the 
hedging 
instrument 
is included

Change in 
the value of 
the hedging 
instrument 

recognised in 
consolidated 
statement of  

(` Crores)
Foreign 
exchange 
contracts

-
assets / 
liabilities 
(current and 
non - current)

assets / 
liabilities 
(Current and 
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Particulars Cost of hedging reserve 
 As at 

March 31, 
2021 

 As at 
March 31, 

2020 

 As at 
March 31, 

2021 

 As at 
March 31, 

2020 
Opening Balance 24.39  -    -   
Changes in the spot element of 
the forward contracts which is 
designated as hedging instruments 
for time period related hedge

 -    -    -   

Changes in the forward element 
of the forward contracts where 
changes in spot element of 
forward contract is designated 
as hedging instruments for time 
period related hedges

 -    -    -   

Changes in fair value of forward 
contracts designated as hedging 
instruments

 -    -   

Changes in fair value of interest 
rate swaps

 -    -   

(Foreign exchange (gain) / loss)
 -   

Amount arising from remeasurement  -    -   

Taxes related to above
Closing Balance  7.53  3.13  -   

40.3.2 Credit Risk Management

  To manage credit risk for trade receivables, the group establishes credit approvals and credit limits, 

and where the risk of default is negligible and accordingly no provision for excepted credit loss has been 

Note No. As at 
March 31, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2020

Loans - current 8
Trade receivables 13

 7.77  6.35 

 Movement of loss allowance :

Trade  
receivables

As at March 31, 2019 2.81  2.49 

Reversed/ utilised during the year
As at March 31, 2020 2.74  3.61 

Reversed/ utilised during the year
As at March 31, 2021 2.74  5.03 

40.3.3 Liquidity Risk Management

through the use of money market instruments, bank overdrafts, bank loans, debentures and other 

which are available for its disposal on T +1 basis and by maintaining open credit lines with banks / 

contractual maturities:
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Less than  
1 year

More than  
1 year and 

upto 5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

As at March 31, 2021
 3,498.19 

 126.83 
Trade payables  -    -    1,585.19 

 -    432.83 
 3,514.19  1,860.50  268.35  5,643.04 

Less than  
1 year

More than  
1 year and 

upto 5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

As at March 31, 2020
 4,195.41 

 142.38 
Trade payables  -    -    1,111.69 

 -    367.66 
 3,294.86  2,176.52  345.76  5,817.14 

41. Contract Balances
  The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from 

contracts with customers

Contract assets Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

 -   
Increase as a result of changes in measure of progress  -    -   
Transfer from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the 
year to receivables

 -   

-  -   

Contract liability Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability 
balance at the beginning of the period
Increase due to cash received, excluding the amount recognised 
as revenue during the period

 18.40  12.68 

42. Non - current assets held for sale and Discontinued operation
A. Engineering Plastics Business

held for sale and discontinued operations” as below:

Sl. no. Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

I (a) -   
 (b) -   
 (c) -    75.13 
 (d) -    -   
 (e) -    75.13 
 (f) Total expenses -   
 (g) -    8.08 

 (h) Tax expense related to discontinued operations -   
 (i) -    5.26 

II (a)
operations

-    233.74 

 (b) Tax expense related to disposal of discontinued 
operations

-   

 (c) -    175.33 

III -    180.59 

IV -   
V -   
VI -   

Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

-   
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Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

-   
Carrying amount of net assets transferred -   
Costs incurred on sale of business -   

-    233.74 
Tax expense related to disposal of discontinued operations -   

operations
-    175.33 

As at 
July 31, 2019

Goodwill
Intangible assets
Inventory
Trade receivables

Total assets  96.63 
Trade payables

Total liabilities
Net assets transferred  76.32 

  SRF Industries(Thailand) Limited closed its Technical Textiles Business operations located at Rayong, 

assets and liabilities have been recognised at estimated fair value and all future realizations / settlements 

discontinued operations are as under:

Sl. no. Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

I (a)  -   
 (b)
 (c)  2.26  134.11 
 (d)
 (e)  8.48  135.92 

Sl. no. Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

 (f)
 (g) Impact on account of fair value measurement loss / 

(gain)  on assets/liabilities
 -   

 (h)

 (i) Tax expense / (gain) related to discontinued 
operations 

II

III
IV
V

Year ended 
March 31, 2021

Year ended
March 31, 2020

-   

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

-   

C.  
(and related notes) for the current year and the previous year have been presented for continuing 

43. Leases

Right-of-use assets Land* Buildings Plant and 
equipment

Total

Cost
 141.57  43.96  21.67  207.20 

 -    -   
Balance at March 31,2020  148.04  44.98  50.63  243.65 
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Right-of-use assets Land* Buildings Plant and 
equipment

Total

 -   
Balance at March 31,2021  151.29  46.25  49.89  247.43 
Accumulated amortisation
Balances at April 1, 2019  -    -    -    -   
Depreciation expenses

 -    -   
Balances at March 31, 2020  0.87  6.76  8.44  16.07 
Depreciation expenses

 -   
Balance at March 31,2021  2.55  12.97  15.15  30.67 

Net block 
Balance at March 31, 2020 147.17 38.22 42.19 227.58 
Balance at March 31, 2021 148.74 33.28 34.74 216.76 

 

Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet As at  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Current

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Interest on lease liabilities
Depreciation expense

assets (Refer note 30)

Amounts recognised in Cash Flow Statement Year ended  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

44. Group Information
Name Principal activities Country of 

incorporation
% equity interest

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
SRF Holiday Home 
Limited

Development and lease 
of Industrial, commercial 
and residential complexes

India 100% 100%

Trust (Controlled Trust)
Implementation and 
operationalisation of long 
term incentive plans of 
the Company

India

SRF Global BV Investment company 100% 100%
SRF Flexipak (South 

(subsidiary of  
SRF Global BV)

Republic of 
South
Africa

100% 100%

(subsidiary of SRF Global 
BV)

Hungary 100% 100%

SRF Industries 
(Thailand) Limited 
(subsidiary of  
SRF Global BV)

Manufacture of Tyre cord 

products

Thailand 100% 100%

SRF Industex Belting 

of SRF Global BV)

Trading of chemical 
products

Republic of 
South
Africa

100% 100%

45.  Additional information as required by Paragraph 2 of General Instructions for 

Act, 2013
Name of the entity 
in the Group

Net Assets, i.e., total 
assets minus total 

liabilities

Share in other 
comprehensive income^

Share in total 
comprehensive income^

As % of 
consolidated 

net assets

Amount
`

As % of 
consolidated 

Share in 

Amount
`

As % of 
consolidated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Amount
`

As % of total 
consolidated 

comprehensive 
income

Amount
`

I Parent - SRF 
Limited

77% 76%

II Subsidiaries:
A Indian
1 SRF Holiday 

Home Limited
-   -    -   -   -
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Name of the entity 
in the Group

Net Assets, i.e., total 
assets minus total 

liabilities

Share in other 
comprehensive income^

Share in total 
comprehensive income^

As % of 
consolidated 

net assets

Amount
`

As % of 
consolidated 

Share in 

Amount
`

As % of 
consolidated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Amount
`

As % of total 
consolidated 

comprehensive 
income

Amount
`

2
Welfare Trust 
(Controlled 
Trust)

-   -    -   -   -   

B. Foreign
1 SRF Global BV 

(Consolidated)
10% 23% 31% 24%

arising out of 
consolidation

(2%) -    -   -   -   

Total 100% 6,856.42 100% 1,197.94 100% 127.50 100% 1,325.44 
Non-
controlling 
Interests in all 
subsidiaries

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

 Amount in absolute ` `

 Amount in absolute `
 ^Includes discontinued operations

46. Additional Disclosures

  The details of research and development expenditure of ` `

Contract assets Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Capital expenditure
Revenue expenditure

 110.50  132.77 

 The details of revenue expenditure incurred on research and development is as below:

Contract assets Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Cost of material consumed
Salaries and wages, including Bonus
Contribution to provident and other funds

Stores and spares consumed

Contract assets Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Rent  -   
Repairs and maintenance

Insurance
Rates and taxes
Travelling and conveyance
Legal and professional charges
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Interest cost
Miscellaneous expenses

 97.04  99.68 

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Salary and contribution to provident and other funds

Value of perquisites

Commission

SUB-TOTAL  26.40  22.81 

Commission

Directors sitting fees

SUB-TOTAL  1.25  1.05 

TOTAL  27.65  23.86 

 

the cost of such assets/ capital work in progress and will be depreciated over the balance useful life of 
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Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Property, plant and equipment

- Roads
- Buildings

 71.17 

Other Intangible Assets
- Trade marks/ Brands  -   
- Technical knowhow  -   

 -   
-  0.61 

`
`

Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Companies Act, 2013
(ii) Amount approved by the Board to be spent during the year
(iii)  Actual amount spent during the year on purposes other than 

Details of expenditure:

programme) :
 a) Amount required to be spent during the year  -   
 b)  Actual amount spent during the year from company's 

bank account
 -   

 c)  Remaining unpaid at the end of the year with the 
company

 -   

 a) Amount required to be spent during the year
 b)  Actual amount spent during the year from company's 

bank account

The Company has established a comprehensive system of maintenance of information and documents 

Company will further update above information and records based on the same and expects these to be in 

As per our report attached
For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants 

 
101248W/W-100022

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Kaushal Kishore 
 

Date : May 21, 2021

Ashish Bharat Ram 
Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Kartik Bharat Ram 
Deputy Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Bharti Gupta Ramola 
Director

Date : May 05, 2021
Rahul Jain 

Date : May 05, 2021

Rajat Lakhanpal 

(Corporate Compliance) and 
Company Secretary

Date : May 05, 2021
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 Indian Subsidiaries

Sl. 
No.

Name of the subsidiary SRF Holiday Home Limited 
`

(a) April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021
(b) Date since when subsidiary was acquired/formed
(c) Reporting Currency
(d) -   
(e) Share Capital
(f) Reserves and Surplus 
(g) Total Assets
(h) Total Liabilities(external liabilities)
(i) Investment -   

Turnover -   
(k)
(l) Tax expense / (income) -   
(m)
(n) -   
(o) % of shareholding 100%

 Foreign Subsidiaries

Sl. 
No.

Name of the subsidiary SRF Global BV#

#

USD ` Crores Rand ` Crores
(a)           April 1, 2020 to 

March 31, 2021
April 1, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(b)           Date since when subsidiary was 
acquired/formed

(c)            Reporting Currency Rand
(d)           
(e)           Share Capital 1,83,15,664 100 
(f)            Reserves and Surplus 
(g)           Total Assets  
(h)           Total Liabilities(external liabilities) 
(i)             Investment  -  -

Turnover - -
(k)           
(l)             Tax expense / (income) - - 8,35,44,614 
(m)          
(n)           - -  -  -
(o) % of shareholding 100% 100%

 `

Sl. 
No.

Name of the 
subsidiary Limited# Limited#

THB ` Crores Rand ` Crores
(a) April 1, 2020 to 

March 31, 2021
April 1, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(b) Date since when 
subsidiary was 
acquired/formed

(c) Reporting Currency THB Rand
(d)
(e) Share Capital 10,00,00,300  1,33,20,202 
(f) Reserves and Surplus 
(g) Total Assets  1,22,77,712 
(h) Total 

Liabilities(external 
liabilities) 

(i)  Investment -   - -  - 
Turnover 3,21,51,27,643 64,17,635 

(k)
Taxation

88,66,33,414 

(l)  Tax expense / 
(income)

-  -

(m)          
Taxation

88,81,62,521 

(n)  -  - -  -
(o) % of shareholding 100% 100%

Sl. 
No.

Name of the subsidiary SRF Europe Kft#

EURO ` Crores
(a) April 1, 2020 to  

March 31, 2021
(b) Date since when subsidiary was acquired/formed
(c) Reporting Currency
(d)
(e) Share Capital 10,10,000 
(f) Reserves and Surplus (1,43,167)
(g) Total Assets
(h) Total Liabilities(external liabilities)    
(i)  Investment -      -   

Turnover    2,23,40,346 
(k)
(l)  Tax expense / (income)       8,141 
(m)          
(n)  -    -   
(o) % of shareholding 100%

 # 

exchange rates:
(i) `
(ii) `
(iii) `
(iv) `
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joint ventures

Ventures#
Malanpur Captive 

Power Ltd.
Vaayu Renewable 

Latest audited Balance Sheet date
Date on which the Associate was associated or acquired
Shares of associate held by the company on the 42,21,535 50,000 

Amount of investment in Associate Companies

Due to control of at 
least 20% of total share 

capital as envisaged 

Companies Act, 2013

Due to control of at least 
20% of total share capital 

of the Companies  
Act, 2013

Reason why the associate company is not consolidated

latest Audited Balance Sheet

(i) Considered in Consolidation

 # 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Ashish Bharat Ram 
Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Kartik Bharat Ram 
Deputy Managing Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Bharti Gupta Ramola 
Director

Date : May 05, 2021

Rahul Jain 

Date : May 05, 2021

Rajat Lakhanpal 

(Corporate Compliance) and  
Company Secretary

Date : May 05, 2021
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